IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS
-EASTERN DIVISION

DIANE LINK WALLACE, ANGELA MAPLES,) _
LISA TAYLOR, MARY E. SISTRUNK, )
PANDORA MEADORS, ANNIE R. SMITH, )
and NICHELLE HART, on behalf of themselves ) -

and all others s1mliarly sitnated,
No. 03 C 6491

- Plaintiffs, ‘
' Judge Ruben Castillo

Ve

THE CHICAGO HOUSING AUTI—IORITY an
Illinois Municipal Corporation, and TERRY
PETERSON, in his official capacity as Chief
Executive officer of the CHA, _

;e o~ e S [ St St St St et St

" Defendants.

' MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER

- Defendants the Chicago Housing Authority (“CHA”') and Terry Peterson; Chief Executive

Ofﬁcer of CHA, move to dismiss Plaintiffs’ First Amended Complaint pursuant to Federal Rule-

of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6). For the followmg reasons, Defenda.nts mot1on is granted in part

~and denied in part. (R. 17-1)
| | 'RELEVANT FACTS

| Plaintiffs sued on behalf of a class of current and former residents of CHA who were, or

be, relocated from public housing dunng CHA’s process of demolishing its high-rise

income communities. - (R. 14-1, Am Compl. 4§ 1,

w111

apartment complexes in lieu of new, mlxed-
3) During that time untll the present, Plaintiffs cla1m (,HA knowmgly failed to provide

adequate relocation services to them or provided relocatxon servmes that elther (1) discouraged .

Plaintiffs from renting in white or integrated neighborhoods; or (2) steered Plaintiffs to




predominantly Aﬁ’ican—Arnerican neighborhoods. (Id. 13.) According to the complaint, as a
result of CHA’s practices, Plalnuffs became segregated in African-American commumtres ‘
: “characterized by high poverty, high crime, poor schools and poor mumc1pa1 services.” (Id )
During the demolition of CHA high-riSes, Defendants provided relocation services under
a government program called the Housmg Choice Voucher (“HCV"’) Program, Whieli i's Onelof
several federal rental subsidy programs ultrmately admmlstered by the Umted States Department
_ of Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”). (Id 19 34-33.) Under the HCV Program HUD
funds and regulates state or local governmental entities called pubhc housmg agencles (“PHAs ). |
(Zd. 1 35.) InChicago, CHA is the PHA responsible for administering the HCV program, b_ut
CHA has contracted with other consulting companies to directly administer the pro grarn. (d. g
36.)- | Families participating in the HCV program rent units that meet program Qualitsf standards. ‘
(Id. 9 37.) Under the HCV Program, C_HA is prohibited by federal law from restricting the
resident’s chorce of location, and thus CHA residents may select a rental unit anywhere in ttre |
pnvate market that lies within CHA’s Junsdrctlon or even anywhere in the Umted States that
admlmsters a voucher program 42USC. § 143780 A).
| Accordmg to the complamt CHA’s relocation pohcres have had the effect of
discouraging Plarntlffs from 1nspeot1ng or rentmg in predornmantly white or rac1a11y 1ntegrated | “
nelghborhoods because: (1) at first, CHA failed to provide any relocat1on semces whatsoever;
(2) when CHA did begin offering relocation serv1ces its agents failed to 1nfonr1 Plaintiffs of the
desirable features of white or racially integrated neighborhoods; (3) CHA or 1ts agents actwely

steered Plaintiffs to predominantly Afric an-American nerghborhoods, and (4) CHA falled to




effeetively and afﬁrmatiVely assist families in moving to integrated neighborhoods. (R. 14, Am.
.Co_mpl. 1[. 70.) : . | |

From 1995 through 1997, CHA offered no relocation services, (id. { 95), but did offer
'sorne relocation services t‘rom 199’7 until‘ 1999, (id. '[[ 96). In January 2000 CHA submitted a 10-
year Plan for Tr'ansfonnation.to HUD. (/d.q 86.) The Plan_ealled for demolition of all CHA -
high-rise develo.pments, as well as 'redevelopment of enough units to accommodate all qualified
| :_ familtes residing in CHA housing as of October 1 1999. ‘(Id 187.) I February 2000 HUD -

| approved the Plan and entered into the Moving to Work Agreement with CHA. (/d. 788.) The

7‘ ,‘ Movmg to Work Ag'reement contained several pI'OVISlOIlS related to the demohtlon, replacement
and rehabrhtatlon of thousands of pubhc housing units, and promlsed substantial federal funds to
| accomphsh these goals (/d.) Additionally, the Moving to Work Agreement 1neorporated a
.- Res1dent Protectron Agreement that requrred CHA to negotrate with the Central Advisory
Counerl of the CHA tenants (the “CAC”) a legally enforceable lease amendment outlrmng the
- rights of CHA residents relocated under the Plan for Transformation. (/d., Ex. B, Moving to
Work Agreement at 9 ) o | |

* On January 16 2001 CHA entered into the Relocation Rights Contract with the CACon
behalf of all CHA tenants d. q 90 ) The contract apphed retroactively to all CHA tenants as of
October 1, 1999——-the effective date of the Plan for Transformatron (/d., Ex. C, Relocatlon |
Rights Contract.) This contract establishes the temporary and permanent housmg relocation -
choices for CHA tenants whose buildings were slated for demolition. (Id.) Tenants choosing

permanent vonchers forfeit their right to return to publie housi‘ng in the future, whereas those

. choosing temporary vouchers retain the right to return. (Id 4 91.) In addition, under the terms of |




" the complaint

the contract CHA must provide counselmg on transmon and moving to “opportunity areas,” (id.,
Ex. C, 9 6(a)), public transportation st1pends and moving assistance, (Id Ex C 7 6(5), and must
assure access to existing social services for CHA residents, (id., Bx. C, 6(])) Each of the
named Plaintiffs moved from or within CHA bu11d1ngs sometime between 1995 and the present
Each Plamnff alleges that she was demed adequate relocatlon serv1ces, was relocated to sub-
standard, racially segregated housmg or was otherw1se subjected to housing d1scr1m1nat10n by
CHA’s practices. | |
LEGAL STANDARDS

In deciding a motion to dlsm1ss under Federal Rule of ClVll Procedure 12(b)(6), we . treat
allegations as true and view all well-pleaded facts and mferences drawn therefrom
in the light most favorable to the plamnff Marshall—Mosby 12 Carp Rece:vables Inc 205 F 3d
323 326 (7th Cir. 2000) A Rule 12(b)(6) motion should be granted only if it appears beyond

doubt that Plalntlffs can prove no set of facts in support of then‘ claims that would ultimately

+

entltle t_hem 10 rehef. Id.

ANALYSIS

Plaintiffs ﬁled a th1rteen—eount amended eompla:mt raising claims of racial ste'ering, ‘-

perpetuanon of segregatlon,

S C. §§ 3601, et seq., Title VI of the C1v11 Rights Act of 1964 42 U.S. C § 2000d the Quahty )

Housmg and Work Responsibility Act of 1988 (“QHWRA™), 42 US.C. § 143 7c~1(d)(15), the

Uniform Relocatlon Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of 1970 (“URA”), 42 o

US.C.§ 4601 et-seq., and two Executwe Orders issued by Pre31dents Kennedy and Clmton

Plaintiffs bring these federal statutory claims against CHA pursuant to 42 U.S C. § 1983

breach of contract and various v101at10ns of the Falr Housmg Act, 42 '




I Statute of anltatlons
‘Before reachmg the question of whether Plalntlffs have stated a claim under these statutes

and § 1983 we must address Defendants’ threshold argument that several of the plarntrffs or

members of the plalntlff class are barred by the two-year statute of limitations apphcable to
clarms under § 1983 and the Farr Housing Act. Plamnffs respond that each of their claims
survwes under the “continuing violations doctnne” because they have alleged a continual
o practrce or policy by Defendants to place CHA resrdents into segregated neighborhoods by
| farhng to provrde appropnate relocation services. Plamtrffs argue that because CHA has
-contrnually farled since 1995 to provide adequate relocat1on services to them, or any member of
the putatlve class, the_y cach have suffered an injury within the statutory period.
Defendants reject Plaintiffs’ “continui_ng violation” ‘theory on a numb'er'of grounds. First,
| Defendants argue that the contrnurng vrolatrons doctrine applies only to continuing wrongs, as
opposed to a series of dlscrete but related acts, which is the case here. Nat ‘Il R.R. Passenger
: Corp V. Morgan 536 U.S. 101 102, 113 (2002), csC Holdmgs Inc. . Redtsr 309 F.3d 088,
" 992 (7th Cir. 2002) Furthermore Defendants argue that, even if this Court accepts a contlnumg
 violations theory, at a minimum any clalrns by Plaintiffs who were relocated prior to the
execution of the Relocatlon nghts Contract in October 1999 are time-barred ’oecause that
contract was an 1nterven1ng event that interrupted the continuum of CHA conduct.
We beheve that Morgan controls our inquiry here and that the continuing violations
 theory does not toll the time-barred Plaintiffs’ claims.. The Supreme Court in Morgan drew a
drstmctron between “discrete discriminatory acts” such as terrnination, failure to promote or

fajlure to hire, and those acts contnbutrng to a hostile work envrronment The Court noted that




"[h]ostile environment claims are different in kind from discrete acts” n that such clairns “are
based on the cumulatlve effect of individual acts.” Morgan, 536 U.S. at 115 Thus the Court
“held that the former “are not actlonable 1f time-barred, even when they are related to acts alleged
in timely filed charges, ” id. at 113, but that the latter may be deemed timely SO long as the
employee ﬁles “a charge within 180 or 300 days of any act that is part of the hostlle work
env1ronment ’ that is, an act that contributes to the hostrle work environment, zd at 118. The

Supreme Court made clear, however, that the reach of the continuing vrolatlons doctnne in the

context of a hostile work environment claim is not 11m1t1ess The otherw1se t1me—barred conduct '.

must be related to non-time-barred conduct and the employer may b_e able to tak_e 1nt_ervemng
curative action that cuts off the temporal reach of the hostile work env1ronment clarm Id. at 118.
This case 1s, of course, different from a routine employment dlscnmmatton case. But the .

Seventh Circuit has held that Morgan s reasoning applies equally to cases brought under § 1983

See Hzldebrandt v.Ill. Dep't of Nat Resources, 347F.3d 1014 1036 n. 18 (7th Cn‘ 2003) Asan

initial matter, we agree with Defendants that the continuing v1olat10ns theory does not apply to
the individual plamtlffs in thrs case, at least in the manner in which Plaintiffs have articulated it.
Our readmg of the complamt and the part1es briefs leads us to conclude that Plamuffs are
actually allegmg some amalgam of the continuing v1olatrons theory anda‘ pattern or practice”
case, perhaps in an attempt to avoid the inevitable conclusion that each Plamtlff alleges only

discrete discriminatory acts. Acoording to Pla1nt1ffs because CHA failed to provrde any or

adequate services to members of the plamt1ff class in the period 1mmed1ately precedmg the filing

of this lawsu1t each class member has suffered an injury within the two-year statute of N

limitations. (R. 20, Pls Resp at 8. ) Plamtrffs further argue that their clalms are d1st1nct from




the typical Title VII__cage alleging discrete discriminatory acts because “any claim of continued.

| _segregatién muét be c;olfnlp;rised of multiple individual incidents of CHA’s action (or inactién)

* towards multiple _familigs..‘ '_ | |

But Plaintiffs’ mingling of standafds cannot hidé_ the fact that they are é.lleging only a

| serigs of discre‘;e dis;riminatory acts that, under Morgah, cannbt.be linked to a timely actto
avoid the running of t_he statute of limitations. Aﬂd, even were we to accept a continﬁing
violations theox_'}.f, either for individual plaintiffs or under a éufﬁcienﬂy alleged “pattern-or-

| practice” clajm, we would holc|1 that it would start running,_;at the earliest, from October 1,

1999——th6 date on .which CHA became contfactually bound and othérwise obligated under

federal law to providg reioéation services. The Relééation Rights Contract constitﬁtes an

| interveniﬁg event that interrupted the temporal reach of the coﬂtinuing violations doctrine. ’I‘hﬁs,
we hold -that any acts chuniﬁg more than t§vo. years. befo‘re‘.th'c filing of the initial complaint on

January 23, 2003 are time-barred.?

1 Although Plaintiffs never specifically ailege that they are proceeding under a pattern-or-
practice theory, they do consistently allege that CHA had a policy of providing inadequate
relocation services. The Supreme Court explicitly refrained from deciding when, if ever, and

" how the continuing violations theory applies to ““pattern-or-practice’ claims brought by private
litigants.” Morgan, 536 10.S. at 115 n.9. But to the extent Plaintiffs seek to proceed on a
“pattern-or-practice” theory under any of their claims, they should explicitly allege this theory
and support it with proper allegations. ' We may revisit our decision to limit the claims to 2001
and later if Plaintiffs can establish: (1) that they may properly bring “pattern-or-practice” claims
as private litigants under the various federal statutes that they cite; and (2) that proceeding under
this theory impacts our decision to {imit Plaintiffs’ claims to 2001 and later.

2 But we rej ect at this time Defendants’ laches defense because we do not believe that
~ Defendants have demonstrated that Plaintiffs acted with an unreasonable lack of diligence in .
- pursuing these claims, or that Defendants have suffered prejudice arising from them.

7




II Violation of CHA’s duty to “affirmatlvely further” fair housmg

In Counts I through IV Pla1nt1ffs aHege that CHA breached its duty to afﬁrmattvely
further fair housmg in violation of the Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. § 3608(6)(5) (Count I), the
Quahty Housing Work Rehabilitatis‘n Act (;‘QHWRA”), 42US.C.§ 1437c-1 (Count m,
Executlve Orders 11063 and 12892 (Count III}, and Title VI of the ClVll Rights Act of 196; 42
U.S.C. § 2000d (Count IV). Tn moving to dismiss, Defendants argue that § 1983 rights are
created only by statutes that clearly evxdence Congressional intent to confer such nghts, and that |
the statutes, regulatlons and orders on which Plaintiffs rely do not create a nght to “afﬁrmatwely
furthered falr housing” that is co gmzable under § 1983. Inresponse, Plaintiffs rely on the test
| articulated by the Supremc Court in Blessmg v. Freestone, 520 U.S. 329 340-41 (1997), as well
as on a district court case from Massachusetts that applies the Blessmg test to almost 1dcnt1cal
claims. See Langlois v. Abington Hous. Auth., 234 F. Supp. 24 33 (D. Mass. 2002). As
discussed in more detaﬂ below, we agree with the court’s reasomng in Langlozs a:nd believe tttat

Bxcept for their claim under Title VI, P1a1nt1ffs have stated clalms under § 1983 in counts one

through three.

~ 31n Blessing, the Supreme court identified three factors as'instr'uctivs in determiining |
whether or not a statute confers a right enforceable by a plaintiff under § 1983: :

First, Congress musthave intended that the provision in question benefit the plamtlff
Second, the plaintiff must demonstrate that the right assertedly protected by the
statute is not so “vague and amorphous” that its enforcement would strain judicial
competence. Third, the statute must unambiguously impose a bmdmg obligation on

the States.

Blessmg, 520 U.S. at 340 41.




A. Vlolatlon of the Fair Housmg Act (“FHA”): 42 US.C. § 3608(e)(S)

In Coun_t I, Plalntlffs allege a violation of the Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S. C § 3608(e)(5),
as well as sleveral -HUD regulations that also articulate a duty to afﬁrmatwely further fair .
housmg See 24 C.FR. §§ 107.20(a); 903. 7(0), 960 103(b), 982.53(b)-(c). That section of the
Falr Housmg Act prov1des in pertinent part:

The Secretary of Housing and Urban Development shall-—administer the programs

and activities relating to housing and urban development in a manner affirrnatlvely
to further the policies of this subchapter

42 U.S. C § 3608(6)(5) The policy underlying the Fair Housing Act is to “provide, within

| constitutional llmltatlons for fa1r housmg throughout the United States. ” 42U.8.C. § 3601

Defendants ra1se two arguments in support of their motron to dlSIIllSS th1s count. Frrst

Defendants argue that the Supreme Court s decision in Gonzaga Umvers:ty V. Doe, 536U.S. 273

(2002), controls our lnqulry In Gonzaga the plalntlff sued under § 1983, alleging violations of

FERPA, a federal spendmg statute, when hls umversrty released pnvate educational records to

' unauthonzed persons The Supreme Court held that FERPA did not create an enforceable right

'u:nder § 1983 because the act contained no individual “ri ghts~creating” language and instead was

“two steps removed” from the interests of the plaintiff because it focused exclusively on the
duties of the hi gher—educatlon institutions and is directed at the Secretary of Edueatwn Id at
287, | |

But we do'not believe that Gonzaga' appties to this case for a number of reasons. Fu'st,
the statute at issue in Gonzaga was enacted pursuant_to Congress’s spending power, whereas. the

Fair Housmg Act is a civil rights statute concerned with remedying past housing discrimination.

' This is significant, according to the Supreme Court because there is “far less reason to infer a




private remedy in favor of individual persons it‘ Congress . . - had written [the statute] simply as a
ban on dtscnmtnatory conduct by recipients of federal fundsorasa prohlbttlon agamst the

_ disbursement of publlc funds to educanonal institutions engaged in dtscnmtnatory practlces ” Id.
(quoting Cannon v. Univ. of Chi., 441 U.S. 677, 690-93 (1979)). In the present __case, Congress
drafied the FHA, like Title IX at issue in Cannon, with an explic'it focus on those vrhonave :
traditionally been victims of d1scnm1natlon in housmg Furthermore, the Supreme Courtin
Gonzaga found that FERPA’S nondrsclosure prov131ons only speak in terms of “1nst1tuttona1

policy and practice,” as opposed to “whether the needs of any parttcular person have been

 satisfied” and therefore could not give rise to individual r1 ghts Id at 288 (quotlng Blessmg, 520

U S. at 3430). Unlike FERPA, it is clear that the Fair Housing Act does aim to confer
1nd1v1dua1 nghts upon a class of beneﬁctanes » Id, at 285. Ftnally, that several other secttons of
the Act explicitly confer individual rights in separate enforcement schemcs see, e. g 42 U. S C.
§§ 3605, 3606 does not, as Defendants suggest mandate a finding that Congress did not mtend
to allow § 1983 plamttffs to pursue an acnon under § 3608. To the contrary, the fact that pnvate
enforcement is available undcr the Act supports our concluswn that Congress mtended to confer

rights upon a class of indiViduals. Therefore, we find Defendants’ reliance on Gonzaga

unpersuaswe in the present case.

Second Defendants argue that, in the absence of the rtghts—creattng language, Platntlffs '

canmot rely on HUD regulations, which do 1mpose an obligation on PHAs to' afﬁrmatrvely ﬁthher

fair housing, to fill the gap. Inits reply CHA concedes that, as a rectplent of HUD funds, 1t has
an obhganon to HUD to affirmatwely further fair housing, but denies that this ,obllganon extends

to Platntlffs under a pnvate cause of action. (R. 23, Defs.” Reply at 10 ); Otero v. N. Y. Ctty
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Hous. Auth., 484 F.2d 1122 1133-34.(2d. Cir. 1973) (noting that the affirmative duty to further
| farr housing placed on the Secretary of HUD by § 3608(e)(5) also applies to “other agencres
administering federally-assisted housing programs ). Given our ﬁndmg above that
'§ 3608(e)(5) does create an mdividaal right that is enforceable under § 1983, Defendants’
gument that HUD regulatrons cannot be used to fill thrs v01d also is unavarhng

Additionally, we believe that the prcv1srons § 3608(e)(5) of the Fair Housing Act easily
pass the Blessiné test. See Langlois, 234 F Supla. 2d at 71-72.. At issue in this case is the first
' prong of the Blessing test, because there 18 httle dispute that the language of the act is mandatcry; |
nor can the partles senously contend that a claim under the Falr Housmg Act strains judicial |
competence See note 3, supra. With respect to this first prong, we agree with the Langlo;s court
that “[1]t could not be clearer from the statute, the leglslatrve history, and the case law construmg
it, that [§ .3608(e)(5)] was rntended to benefit the pla1nt1ffs here people in desperate need of .
accees to fair housmg, mmontres and the poor.” Id at 72 As noted above, Congress drafted the
- Fair Housrng Act w1th an exphcrt focus on those who have traditionally been victims of
drscnmrnatmn in housmg See Trafficante v. Metro. Life Ins. Co 409 U.S. 205, 211 (1972)
(crtmg Senator Mondale, a chief sponsor of the FHA as stating that one of the Act’s purposes
was to create “truly 1ntegrated and balanced living patterns ). Thus, for the foregomg reasons, |

we hold that Plaintiffs may sue under § 1983 to combat a violation of § 36_08(6)(5) of the Fair

'Housing Act.

11
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'B.  Violation of the Quality Housing and Work Responsibility Act (‘QHWRA”):
42 U.S.C. § 1437¢-1(d)(15) : : -

S1m11arly, we believe that Plaintiffs’ Count I, which alleges v1olat10ns of the QHWRA,
also surv1ves d1smlssa1 The Umted States Housing Act, as added by the QHWRA directs PHAs
- to prepare plans that describe how they will meet the housing needs of eli g1b1e famﬂles in theu'

j'urisdictlons Sectlon l437c 1(d)(15) requires a PHA to certlfy that it “will carry out the pubhe
housmg agency plan in conformity with [T1tle V1, the FHA the Rehablhtatlon Act of 197 3, and
the Americans with Dlsab111t1es Act], and will affirmatively further fair housmg ” For the same
reasons as stated above with réspect to § 3608(e)(5), this statute also passes Blessmg s three-
prong test. In fact, the QHWRA provisions apply even mote strongly than the duty artlculated in
§ 3608(e)(5) s1nee 1t is directed exphcltly at PHAS rather than the Secretary of HUD Thus,
| Defendants’ motion to dismiss Count IT fails as well.
C. Violation of Executive Ofders 11663 and 12892
Plamtlffs further claim in Count 111 that Executive Orders 11063 and 12892, ‘ilssued by

Pres1dents Kennedy and Clmton respectlvely, also create a duty to afﬁrmatwely ﬁthher fan'

housing that Plaintiffs may enforce under § 1983, These orders d1rect the heads of federal
agenc1es to “take all action necessary and appropriate to prevent dlscnmmatlon ¢ Executwe
Order 11063, 27 Fed Reg. 11527 (Nov. 20, 1962), and to “ensure that [their] programs and

activities relating to housing and urban develepment. are administered in a manner afﬁnnahvely

4 Purthermore we agree with Pla1nt1ffs that Congress exp11c1t1y authorized § 1983 suits
under the QHWRA. See 42 U.8.C. § 1437¢-1(1)(4)(B). That section primarily addresses the
consequence of the Secretary’s disapproval of a PHA plan submitted pursuant to the section and
a failure to provide notice of such lack of compliance. But the section also states that judicial _
review is not precluded, nor is “an action regarding such compliance under section 1983 of tlns i

title.” Id.
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